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ALEXANDER J. GODELMAN, an
Individual; and MARC LE SHAY, an
Individual,

CASE NO. BC 374 446

Assigned for all purposes to the

Hon. Jane L. Johnson, Department 56
Plaintiffs,
THIRD AMENDED

[ A
Vs. COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES FOR:

DISKEEPER CORPORATION, a
Delaware corporation; and DOES 1-50,
inclusive,

1. DISCRIMINATORY DISCHARGE AND
FAILURE TO ACCOMMODATE
(RELIGION) IN VIOLATION OF THE
FAIR EMPLOYMENT AND HOUSING

Defendants. ACT;

R

2. WRONGFUL TERMINATION IN
VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY;

3. RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF
THE FEHA;

4. RETALIATION IN VIOLATION
LABOR CODE § 1102.5; and

5. FAILURE TO PREVENT
DISCRIMINATION

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs Alexander J. Godelman and Marc Le Shay allege and complain as follows:
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
1. Plaintiffs:

(a) Plaintiff ALEXANDER J. GODELMAN ("GODELMAN") is a natural
person who has been, and at all times relevant hereto was, a resident of the ‘County of Los
Angeles and a citizen of the State of California,

(b) Plaintiff MARC LE SHAY ("LE SHAY") is a natural person who has
been, and at all times relevant hereto was, a resident of the County of Los Angeles and a citizen
of the State of California. |

(¢) The use of the term "PLAINTIFFS" in this Complaint is intended to
refer to both GODELMAN and LE SHAY collectively.

2. Defendants:

(a)  PLAINTIFFS are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that
defendant DISKEEPER CORPORATION (hereinafter, "DISKEEPER") is, and at all times
mentioned herein was, a Delaware corporation which is qualified and authorized to do business
(and is doing business) in the State of California, with its principal place of business located in
Los Angeles County at 7590 N Glenoaks Blvd., Burbank, CA 91504. Among other things,
DISKEEPER is an employer of five or more employees and is engaged in the business of
developing, manufacturing and distributing computer software products for distribution on a
world-wide basis. PLAINTIFFS are further informed and believe, and thereon allege, that
DISKEEPER is not a non-profit "religious association or corporation" exempt from the State
and Federal laws prohibiting religious discrimination in the hiring and employment of its
employees (including, without limitation, Section 12926.2(d) of the California Fair Employment
& Housing Act, Government Code § 12900 ef seg. ("FEHA") ).

Doe Defendants

3. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or

otherwise, of the Defendants sued herein as DOES 1 through 50 are unknown to PLAINTIFES,
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who therefore sue said DEFENDANTS by such fictitious names. DOES 1 through 10 were at
all relevant times the officers, directors and/or managing agents of DISKEEPER. PLAINTIFES
will seek leave of court to amend this complaint to allege the true names and capacities of DOES
1 through 50 when they have been ascertained, if necessary. The use of the term

"DEFENDANTS" in this Complaint is intended to refer to defendant DISKEEPER and to all
DOE Defendants in this action.

Agencv Relationship

4. PLAINTIFFS are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that at all times
relevant hereto, each of the defendants was the employer or employee, joint venturer, partner,
agent, co-conspirator and/or servant of each of the remaining defendants, and in doing each and
all of the things hereinafter alleged was acting within the scope and purpose of his, her or its
authority as such employer, employee, joint venturer, partner, agent, co-conspirator and/or
servant, and with the permission, consent and ratification, whether express or implied, of ¢ach
of the remaining defendants. On information and belief, each of the defendants sued as DOES

1 through 50 is in some manner legally responsible for the injuries to PLAINTIFFS.

Nature of Diskeeper's Business

S. DISKEEPER is a globat corporation whose products are marketed and
distributed in six continents - North America, South America, Europe, Asia, Africa and

Australia. According to its own website found at www.diskeeper.com, DISKEEPER has "for

over 25 years . . . been the leader in the creation of file system performance products which
greatly increased computer performance, productivity, and reliability of computer systems
around the world. [] So important is Diskeeper to the world of computing that it was named
among the Top 5 products that everyone should have on their computer systems or networks."
PLAINTIFFS are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that DISKEEPER is owned and
operated by CRAIG JENSEN, the former Chief Executive Officer and current Chairman of
DISKEEPER (hereafter, "JENSEN"), a self-proclaimed "entrepreneur and humanitarian” who,
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according to his personal website found at www.craigiensen.com, attributes his personal success

to the now-deceased founder of the Scientology religion, L. Ron Hubbard (for whom JENSEN

provides a link to Mr. Hubbard's own website, Ironhubbard.org):

"I created Diskeeeper Corporation to use my computer abilities to
help others and make a good living for my family. When I started
the business, however, I had not counted on the awesome power of
the Hubbard Management System, which has made Diskeeper
Corporation one of the most successful software companies in the
world."
As alleged in greater detail in this Complaint, the so-called "Hubbard Management System" is

nothing more than a thinly-veiled cover for the Scientology religion and its teachings.

Hiring of Godelman

6. GODELMAN has been employed as a senior level technology executive
for over 25 years with a background in design, planning, implementation and service delivery
of technology systems and services as well as team-building and coaching. GODELMAN has
worked for start-ups and for Fortune 100 companies (including Time Warner, Disney, ABC,
Electronic Arts, CCH, Bank of America and Wells Fargo, among others) managing large teams
of IT professionals in a variety of complex technology environments. After an intensive
solicitation and recruiting effort, DISKEEPER extended an offer of employment to
GODELMAN in May of 2006 (and he commenced providing services on May 22, 2006).
GODELMAN's position at DISKEEPER was that of "Chief Information Officer" with an annual
salary of $170,000 and a target bonus of $35,000, plus health and other employer-provided
insurances, paid vacation, and the like. In this position, GODELMAN was in charge of all
aspects of the company's "information technology" operations and reported to JENSEN, at that
time the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, and Lisa Terrenzi, Deputy CEO,

Board Member and Chairperson of the so-called "Executive Council” which managed the
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business operations of DISKEEPER. GODELMAN took over the role formerly held by Andy
Staffer, Director of Research and Development, who after training GODELMAN in the essential
functions of the job, told him that he was confident that GODELMAN possessed the requisite
technical and business skills to successfully perform the CIO position "with [hié] eyes closed.”
This observation was prescient as GODELMAN did, in fact, successfully perform all of his
assigned duties and responsibilities throughout his tenure with DISKEEPER, at least until
October 19, 2006 when he was prevented from doing so by being terminated for his refusal to
subscribe to the Scientology religion and the religious beliefs and teachings thrust upon him by
DISKEEPER and in retaliation for standing up for the rights of plaintiftf LE SHAY (whose
request to be accommodated by being excused from the company requirement that he study,

learn and apply the fundamental principles of the Scientology religion was rejected by

DISKEEPER management).

Hiring of Le Shay

7. After having personally observed his excellent work as an employee at
other companies, GODELMAN recommended to his superiors at DISKEEPER that plaintiff
LE SHAY be hired in or about September of 2006 to provide assistance and support for several
ongoing projects undertaken by GODELMAN. LE SHAY commenced providing services as
an employee at DISKEEPER on October 2, 2006, in the position of Automation Planning
Officer (reporting to plaintiff GODELMAN). LE SHAY was employed with an annual salary
of $130,000 and an annual bonus of unlimited potential depending on his performance. Like
GODELMAN, LE SHAY was entitled by virtue of his employment to receive health and other
employer-provided insurances, paid vacation, and the like. In this position, LE SHAY provided
support for the Information Technology operations of DISKEEPER's business and was
responsible for both oversight of architectural design of the company's IT systems, and for
developing and executing the IT project management and delivery processes in a.repeatable and
consistent manner. Like GODELMAN, LE SHAY successfully performed all of his assigned

duties and responsibilities throughout his short tenure with DISKEEPER, at least until
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October 11, 2006, when he was asked to submit his "resignation” in lieu of being terminated for

his refusal to take company-required training courses based on the Scientology religion.

Scientology Training a Condition of Employment

8. During the recruitment process, both GODELMAN and LE SHAY were
informed by representatives of DISKEEPER that they were expected and required to attend a
basic training course referred to internally at DISKEEPER as "Company Basics Zero" (which
was described as a "staff orientation" training about the company and its methods of conducting
business). GODELMAN and LE SHAY were also told that, following their successtul
completion of the "staff orientation" training, they would be required to attend a more advanced
training program referred to internally at DISKEEPER as "Company Basics I and II" (which
were described as merely "additional training" courses dealing with the methods.of the business
ofthe company). However, these innocuous descriptions of the mandatory training courses were
a pretext and a cover up for a more malevolent and unlawful purpose -- to indoctrinate the
workforce of DISKEEPER to the teachings and methods of Scientology, a body of teachings and
related techniques developed by American science fiction author L. Ron Hubbard and founded
in 1952 as a self-help philosophy and later viewed and described as a new religion. The religion
of Scientology is based in Churches located in America, Canada, the United Kingdom,
Australia, Africa and other countries throughout the world through a network of affiliated
organizations that claim ownership and sole authority to disseminate the teachings and methods
developed by L. Ron Hubbard. Rather than teach its employees about DISKEEPER and/or its

business, the mandatory "training courses" imposed on its employees (including PLAINTIFFS)

were teachings of the Scientology religion.

Work Environment Permeated With Scientology

9. The working conditions and work environment at DISKEEPER were
inextricably intertwined with the Scientology religion such that a non-Scientologist cannot

escape constant impositions of said religion. From the abundance of religious artwork, to the
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repeated use of quotations from Scientology's founder, L. Ron Hubbard, directly taken from his
religious writings, to the general and day-to-day use of vernacular taken from Scientology
teachings (like, for example, "Dev-T" which refers to "Developed Unnecessary Traffic," a term
used in Scientology), to the massive libraries of Scientology books offered for sale or as a
loaner, and to the frequent reference to "organization charts" for the Church of Scientology,
employees at DISKEEPER are constantly bombarded with Scientology imagery and ideology
in the work environment (whether they want it or not). These employment practi‘ces are a subtle
form of indoctrination and proselytization. At the commencement of employment all employees

are given a handbook entitled "The Way to Happiness" which was created by L. Ron Hubbard

and which includes amongst its instruction the admonition "Sex is a big step on the way to
happiness and joy. There is nothing wrong with it if it is followed with faithfulness and
decency." The same DISKEEPER-distributed handbook contains the disclaimer "Any reprinting
or individual distribution of it does not infer connection with or sponsorship of any religious
organization." While this employer-promulgated handbook is certainly odd, it is not until one
begins to work at DISKEEPER that the full volume and adverse impact of the Scientology
propaganda can be understood -- and by then it is too late as the subscription to such beliefs
quickly becomes a condition of continued employment. Employees are left to face two choices
_ either converttoand learn and apply Scientology principles in the performance of their duties,
or be criticized, reprimanded or discharged for failing to use the methods of thought and
language which conform to Scientology. Put another way, the employees are given the choice

of assimilating into the culture of Scientology -- or perishing and losing their jobs.

Emplover Failure to Accommodate Godelman's

Request Not to Attend Scientology Training Courses

10.  Because GODELMAN was the first person amongst PLAINTIFFS to be
hired by DISKEEPER, he was also the first person to experience the unlawful act of literally
being forced to learn about and study the Scientology religion (albeit, under the guise of it being

somehow related to the performance of his work as Chief Information Officer). From the outset
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of these religion indoctrination sessions (which were taught nightly from 5:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m.,
Monday through Friday without payment of any overtime wages to any of the employees forced
{o attend, whether exempt or non-exempt), GODELMAN repeatedly protested having to attend
these so-called "training seminars” and resisted DISKEEPER's efforts to convert him from his
religion (Jewish) to Scientology. On June 8, 2006, in a meeting with Andy Staffer, the then-
interim Chief Information Officer who was transferring his duties and responsibilities to
GODELMAN, Mr. Staffer stated that, while he had no questions about GODELMAN's skills
or competencies to do his job, he was concerned about his resistance to adopting the Scientology
religion, stating (as best GODELMAN can recall):

" The success of our company as well as the success of many of us
is attributed to our religion and our dedication to its concepts and
teachings. I don’t sec you putting any value on this as of yet, nor
do I see you expressing any interest learning our religion. Unless
you learn it well, you can't really have an opinion about it and can’t
really decide for yourself whether or not it would ever work for
you.” Andy stated that he cannot see how Alex can make an
intelligent decision about religion or anything else for that matter
without learning what it is and what affect it has on people.”

In response, GODELMAN stated that he did not join DISKEEPER to discover a new religion
and wanted only to focus on his job as the new Chief Information Officer. Mr. Staffer would
not relent, however, stating that the Scientology courses being taught at DISKEEPER were all
needed to be "successful and productive.” In this meeting, Mr. Staffer gave GODELMAN a
book espousing Scientology methods and teachings, reminding GODELMAN that he [Staffer]
was a member of the Board of Directors of DISKEEPER and stating: "This book will help you
to understand what we are and what we stand for. Please read it as soon as possible and
specifically focus on the chapters discussing the aims of Scientology. I need you to get it cold
and see what we stand for and why you would want to be one of us" (or words to that effect).
Mr. Staffer then concluded the meeting with GODELMAN with an ominous warning: "You
can’t be against something without knowing what it is. I need you to read [the book]. Please
don’t make me ask you again, 1 just want you to be successful and this is what you need to learn

to be a success.” That same day, GODELMAN approached his supervisor, JENSEN, CEO and

8
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Chairman of the Board, to discuss his uncomfortable conversation with Mr. Staffer.
GODELMAN sought guidance about what to do, expressly stating to JENSEN that he was not
interested in attending "training courses" that were not job-oriented, but rather were focused on
the teachings and methods of the Scientology religion. Rather than intervene or otherwise
assure GODELMAN that adherence to (and adoption of) the Scientology religion was not a
condition of his employment, JENSEN stated that most of his successes (personal and business)
were attributable to Scientology and its teaching. JENSEN told GODELMAN that his
attendance at and participation in the company-provided "training courses” was not negotiable
and that once GODELMAN learned more about Scientology, he would begin understanding and
appreciating its benefit (adding that it was "for your own good” and that, at the end of the weeks
of training, GODELMAN would become more intelligent as an executive and as an individual
(and that his professional and personal life would "improve drastically"). Chairman JENSEN
concluded the meeting with GODELMAN by telling him that the "training courses” were
something he "felt strongly about" and warning him not to complain about the process in any
e-mails (which he said could be "misconstrued” and/or "taken out of context™). JENSEN stated
to GODELMAN that he "strongly recommend[ed]" that he "go with the program'; and asked him
to reserve his judgments for a later time. Approximately a week later, on or about June 14,
2006, Lisa Terrenzi, Deputy CEO and Chairman of the so-called Executive Council, asked
GODELMAN ifhe had any questions about his meeting with Chairman JENSEN and stated that
she trusted that he would "do the right thing" (implying that she expected him to attend the
company-provided Scientology sermons referred to internally as "training courses"). Numerous
other examples of the coercion of DISKEEPER to induce GODELMAN to attend and
participate in Scientology courses and training exist. GODELMAN, however, continued to
refuse to participate in company-sponsored events that were Scientology-based, including a
supposed seminar at the Church of Scientology campus on Hollywood Blvd. in Los Angeles.
This refusal resulted in a series of criticisms of GODELMAN that had nothing to do with his

work performance and everything to do with his religious beliefs. No effort was made to

i
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. .

accommodate GODELMAN's preference to choose when to practice and study his ownreligious
beliefs (Judaism) by any of DISKEEPER's employees except GODELMAN.

Employer Failure to Accommodate Le Shay's

Reguest Not to Attend Scientology Training Courses

11.  Asnoted in Paragraph 7, above, LE SHAY had a much shorter employment
tenure at DISKEEPER than GODELMAN. On October 4, 2006, two days after he was hired
as the Automation Planning Officer, LE SHAY approached GODELMAN to complain about
the first "training course" he had been required to attend the night before. LE SHAY informed
GODELMAN that he welcomed any training that DISKEEPER desired to provide to assist him
in successfully performing his job, but that he felt that the seminar he attended was not about
his job and, instead, was about the Scientology religion. GODELMAN -- having experienced
the same concerns with the training he had been required to attend -- then solicited the input and
intervention of Breana Wells, Vice President of Human Resources. Both LE SHAY and
GODELMAN attempted to explain to Ms. Wells that the material being taught in the training
courses was religious in nature and proselytized the Scientology principles of management and
study developed by L. Ron Hubbard. Ms. Wells acknowledged that the "Hubbard systems"
management philosophy was required training and that DISKEEPER employees were expected
to apply those principles in the work place, but was adamant in stating that "the courts have
declared these materials to be non-religious” and that several businesses and schools used the
same course materials that PLAINTIFFS had objected to. LE SHAY repeated that he was not
willing to participate in the company-required training courses if they continued to be based on
Scientology principles. Ms. Wells then stated that she did not know what to do and that she
would have to get back to him. Later, Ms. Wells agreed to remove some of the classes in the
training schedule for LE SHAY, but that he would still be required to attend the so-called "Basic
Study Manual” courses. LE SHAY stated that he was uncomfortable with the Scientology-based
content that he experienced in the "Technology of Study" course he had began, and declined to
take the "Basic Study Manual" course (which he understood was just more of the same content

that he had previously objected to). Ms. Wells then left the room, but a few hours later LE
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SHAY was approached by Flavia Taylor, Head of the Establishment Office (a DISKEEPER
division responsible for assimilating new employees into the company and its culture), who
asked if there was a "problem” with his training. LE SHAY then related what had transpired
to date, to which Ms. Taylor replied "keep in mind that all of our employees are expected to
study and use the Hubbard system.” No effort was made to accommodate LE SHAY's
preference to choose when to practice and study his own religious beliefs (Juddism) by any of

DISKEEPER's employees except GODELMAN.

Evidence of Emplover Requirement of Religious Conformity

12.  Near the end of GODELMAN's employment, he was criticized again for
failing to conform his beliefs and methods of doing business to Scientology principles. In an
e-mail dated September 2, 2006, one of GODELMAN's superiors, Gary Edwards, wrote to
JENSEN to note GODELMAN's non-compliance and to suggest additional Scientology training
that he should be forced to take, as follows:

"From: Network Executive

Sent: Saturday, September 02, 2006 7:13 PM
To: Crams

Cc: CIO

Subject: FW: RUSH - KR - Alex Godelman

ClO cc
Crams
CJ Comm

| am being Alex’s Esto and got the following KR regarding the AC. | realize that Alex has not
previously studied the policies listed below but we need the CIO to know this is how we

operate.
Suggest:
HCO PLAINTIFF Operational, Definition Of OEC Vol 0 page 570
HCO PLAINTIFF Environmental Control OEC Vol 0 page 563
HCO PLAINTIFF Operating At Risk QOEC Vol 0 page 552
HCO PLAINTIFF Spectatorism CEC Vol 0 page 550

Please let me know when you pull him in. You can use his Esto time from 11:00 to 12:00 if
he doesn’t have any cther time to do it.

ML,

Gary Edwards
CJ Comm
Diskeeper Corporation "
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PLAINTIFES are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that the terms "Cram," "CJ Comm,"
"Esto," "KR", "AC," "OEC" and "ML" are all Scientology-based terms and that the reference
to "CIO" referred to GODELMAN in his then-position of "Chief Information Officer."

Termination of Le Shay and Godelman

13.  On October 11, 2006, Flavia Taylor gave an ultimatum to LE SHAY that
he either agree to attend and participate in the "Basic Study Manual” courses he had objected
to based on his religious beliefs, or leave DISKEEPER. Ms. Taylor's exact words to LE SHAY
were "You have a choice to make." LE SHAY went to GODELMAN and told him he had no
choice but to resign because no one in upper management (besides GODELMAN) would listen
to his complaints or do anything to remedy the situation. GODELMAN then attempted to seek
the intervention of Mercedes Del Castillo, Executive Vice President of Operations, but even she
reiterated that the "Basic Study Manual" courses that LE SHAY had objected to were
"mandatory" and a condition of employment. Faced with DISKEEPER's failure and refusal to
remove religious teachings and proselytizing from the workplace, LE SHAY then tendered his
resignation (although, from a legal perspective as well as LE SHAY's perspective, the end of
his employment with DISKEEPER was forced by its unlawful and discriminatory conduct).
GODELMAN was angry that no one in upper management at DISKEEPER was willing to alter
or modify the company's religious training to accommodate LE SHAY's requests, and did not
conceal his displeasure. Eight days later, on October 19, 2006, without any notice or discussion,
GODELMAN's employment was terminated by DISKEEPER without any explanation for the
termination action. Notably, to that point in time, GODELMAN had received nothing but praise
and commendations for his excellent work performance. The only logical explanation for said
termination action was that DISKEEPER was retaliating against GODELMAN for doing his

best to establish a work environment free of religious discrimination.

Iy
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

FOR DISCRIMINATORY DISCHARGE AND FAILURE

TO ACCOMMODATE (RELIGION) IN

VIOLATION OF THE FAIR EMPLOYMENT AND HOUSING ACT

(Against DISKEEPER and DOES 1-50)

Incorporation by Reference

14.  PLAINTIFFS repeat, reallege and incorporate herein by reference each and

every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-13 above, as if set forth herein in full.

Proscription Against Religious Discrimination

15.  DISKEEPER is a company engaged in interstate commerce and subject to
the statutes, laws and regulations governing all employers with five or more employees. Atall
times mentioned herein, the FEHA was in full force and effect and was binding upon
DISKEEPER and each of its employees. Said statute requires employers to refrain from taking
any actions which discriminate (or have the effect of discriminating) against any employee on
the basis of any statutorily protected classification including, without limitation, one's religion,
among other things. For example, Section 12940 reads as follows:

“It shall be an unlawfil employment practice, unless based upon a
bona fide occupational qualification, or, except where based upon
applicable security regulations established by the United States or
the State of California:

(a) For an employer, because of the race, religious creed,
color, national origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental
disability, medical condition, marital status, sex, age, or
sexual orientation of any person, to refuse to hire or employ
the person or to refuse to select the person for a training
program leading to employment, or to bar or fo discharge
the person from employmeni or from a training program
leading to employment, or fo discriminate against the
person in compensation or in terms, conditions, or
privileges of employment.”

* ok 0k
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() For an employer . . . to discharge a person from
employment . . ., or to discriminate against a person in
compensation or in terms, conditions, or privileges of
employment because of a conflict between the person's
religious belief or observance and any employment
requirement, unless the employer or other entity covered by
this part demonstrates that it has explored any available
reasonable alternative means of accommodating the
religious belief or observance, including the possibilities of
excusing the person from those duties that conflict with his
or her religious belief or observance or permitting those
duties to be performed at another time or by another person,
but is unable to reasonably accommodate the religious
belief or observance without undue hardship on the conduct
of the business of the employer . . . . Religious belief or
observance, as used in this section, includes, but is not
limited to, observance of a Sabbath or other religious holy
day or days, and reasonable time necessary for travel prior
and subsequent to a religious observance." [falics added.

These sections codify the "public policy" of the State of California to prohibit employers from
discriminating against its employees on the basis of their religions or beliefs about religion.
Although this action is not predicated on Federal law, similar proscriptions against religious
discrimination exist under Federal law, as codified in Title V11 of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,
as amended (which forbids an employer: "to . . . discharge any individual . . . because of such

individual's . . . religion . . ."), at 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1).

Prima Facie Case of Religious Discrimination

16. To establish a claim for religious discrimination under the FEHA,
PLAINTIFFS must show that (a) they held a bona fide religious belief, (b) the employer was
aware of that belief, and (¢) their beliefs conflicted with their employment requirement. See
Friedmanv. Southern Calif. Permanente Med. Group (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 39,45, and Young
v. Southwestern Savings and Loan Association (1975) 509 F.2d 140. Inthis case, PLAINTIFFS'

bona fide religious beliefs in Judaism were known to DISKEEPER. However, a conflict arose

when DISKEEPER would not let PLAINTIFFS continue to remain employed without their
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agreement to attend the company-sponsored religious "training courses” based on Scientology
principles and/or their agreement to subscribe to the teachings and practices of the Scientology
religion. As the Court aptly observed in Shapolia v. Los Alamos National Laboratory (10" Cir.
1993) 992 F.2d 1033, 1038, "it is the religious beliefs of the employer, and the fact that [the

employee] does not share them, that constitute the basis of the [religious discrimination] claim.”

Plaintiffs' Religion a "Motivating Factor"

In the Termination Actions Taken Against Them

17.  PLAINTIFFS, and each of them, held their own bona fide beliefs about
religion, the practice of which conflicted with the job requirement that they attend, participate
in and subscribe to the teachings of the Scientology religion. PLAINTIFFS, and each of them,
informed their superiors at DISKEEPER that the job requirement that they attend, participate
in and subscribe to the teachings of the Scientology religion conflicted with their own bona fide
beliefs about religion, but DISKEEPER failed and refused to accommodate their religious
beliefs. PLAINTIFFS are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that their complaints about
the DISKEEPER-sponsored and required training in the Scientology religion -- as well as their
refusal to subscribe to the Scientology religion imposed upon them by DISKEEPER as a
condition of employment -- was a substantial or motivating factor in the termination of thetr
respective employment tenures. The anticipated contention that PLAINTIFES were terminated
for "insubordination” due to their refusal to attend and participate in the "Basic Study" training
course would not be the true reason for the terminations, but rather would be pretexual and a
coverup for unlawful discrimination in violation of California Government Code § 12940 ef seq.
Of course, in the case of LE SHAY, no reason was given by Ms. Taylor for the ultimatum she
gave him to either attend the religious training or resign and, in the case of GODELMAN, no
reason whatsoever was given for his termination. Such discrimination has resulted in damage
and injury to PLAINTIFFS as alleged herein,

I
I

15

THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES




oo 1

10
1
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

2
27
28

LionksIneur Ploadungs Il A Complaint. Frd

Other Discriminatory Practices

18.  PLAINTIFFS are informed and believe that, in addition to the discriminatory acts
described in this cause of action, DISKEEPER has engaged in other discriminatory practices
which are not fully known by PLAINTIFES (including, without limitation, a pattern and practice
of failing to accommodate persons who hold religious beliefs other than Scientology).
PLAINTIFES are further informed and believe that there is a statistically sigﬁiﬁcant under-
representation of non-Scientologist employees in the workforce of DISKEEPER. PLAINTIFES
intend to take discovery regarding these other discriminatory practices which, directly or

indirectly, affected the terms, conditions and privileges of their employment at DISKEEPER.

Exhaustion of Statutorv Remedies

19.  PLAINTIFFS have filed a timely charge of discrimination with the
California Department of Fair Employment and Housing against DISKEEPER and have
obtained "right to sue” letters dated December 26, 2006 (as to GODELMAN} and December 28,
2006 (as to LE SHAY). Thus, PLAINTIFFS have satisfied and/or exhausted any and all

preconditions to bringing this action as required by California Government Code § 12940 ef seq.

Damages/Injunctive Relief

20. At the time of their discharges, PLAINTIFFS were earning substantial
wages with bonuses annually, health insurance and other benefits, and could have been eligible,
had they been retained, for annual pay raises and enhancements to their other benefits of
employment. As a direct result of their discriminatory discharge in violation of the FEHA,
PLAINTIFFS have suffered actual, incidental and consequential damages (past and future),
which include, but are not limited to, lost wages, lost employment benefits, and lost bonus
compensation, which damages are believed to be in excess of $500,000 annually. The precise
amount of damages sustained by PLAINTIFFS has not yet been ascertained and is subject to
proof at trial. In the alternative, PLAINTIFFS seek full back pay and lost employment benefits

through the date of trial, and reinstatement to their former positions accompanied by a mandatory
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and/or prohibitory injunction prohibiting DISKEEPER from forcing or requiring any employee, as
a condition of employment, to study, adopt and/or apply the so-called "Hubbard Management
Technology" and/or the related "Hubbard Study Technology" (both of which PLAINTIEFS intend

o prove at trial are "cover” names for the fundamental teachings of the Scientology religion) in the

workplace.

Emotipnal Distress Damages
21.  Asan additional direct result of their discriminatory discharge in violation
of FEHA, PLAINTIFFS have suffered significant personal, emotional and economic injuries
(including, but not limited to, loss of wages, loss of bonuses, loss of employment benefits and
other forms of employment compensation), emotional distress and/or physical health problems
resulting from emotional distress caused by and occurring after their termination, loss of self-
esteem, embarrassment, humiliation and mental anguish. The precise amount of damages

sustained by PLAINTIFFS has not yet been ascertained and is subject to proof at trial.

Attornevs' Fees and Costs

22.  Pursuantto Government Code Section 12965, PLAINTIFFS are entitled to

recover their reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in addition to all other damages permitted.

Punitive Damages

23.  The discriminatory decisions and actions inflicted upon PLAINTIFFS by
DISKEEPER were made in complete disregard of PLAINTIFES' prior job performance and with
the malicious intent to deprive them of their employment and with malicious or reckless
disregard of the personal and economic injury that would be caused to PLAINTIFFS. In doing
the things herein alleged, DISKEEPER was motivated by personal animosity, spite and ill-will
toward PLAINTIFFS in a desire to injure, vex, harass and annoy them, and acted with the
wrongful motive, intent and purpose of depriving PLAINTIFFS of the rights, benefits,

protections and entitlements of their employment at DISKEEPER and of the security of their
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employment, knowing that it had no right to do so and fully intending the harm, both financial

and emotional, which it knew would result from the termination of their employment.
PLAINTIFFS are informed and believe, and on the basis of such information and belief allege,
that the acts and conduct of the individuals who participated in such discrimination were
expressly authorized by corporate officers of DISKEEPER (including, but not limited to, Danny
Chadwell, DISKEEPER's Director of Corporate Affairs and "agent for service of process”
(hereafter, "CHADWELL"} prior fo the occurrence of such unlawful conduct, and were
subsequently authorized and ratified by the entire Board of Directors of DISKEEPER (including,
but not limited to JENSEN, Chairman of the Board) affer such unlawful conduct occurred.
DEFENDANTS' conduct was malicious and oppressive and, by reason thereof, PLAINTIFFS
are¢ entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at trial.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

FOR WRONGFUL TERMINATION IN

VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY
(Against DISKEEPER and DOES 1-50)

Incorporation by Reference

24.  PLAINTIFFS repeat, reallege and incorporate by reference each and every

allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-13 and 15-18, above, as if set forth herein in full.

Public Policy Against Religious Discrimination

25.  Atalltimes mentioned herein, California Government Code § 12900 et seq.
was 1n full force and effect and was binding upon DEFENDANTS, and each of them, and each
of its employees. Section 12921(a) of the FEHA provides as follows:

“(a) The opportunity to seek, obtain and hold employment without
discrimination because of race, religious creed, color, national

origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical

condition, marital status, sex, age, or sexual orientation is hereby

recognized as and declared to be a civil right.”
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Emphasis added. Government Code Sections 12940(a) and (1) also prohibit religious
discrimination, as described in Paragraph 15, above. In addition, Article I, Section 4 of the
California Constitution declares that all citizens are guaranteed the right of the "[f]ree exercise
and enjoyment of religion without discrimination or preference ...." The above-enumerated
statutes and Constitutional provision (and others) set forth the "public policy" in the State of

California to prohibit discrimination against any employee on the basis of his or her religion,

among other things.

Discharge In Violation of "Public Policy"

26.  PLAINTIFFS are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that
DISKEEPER's termination of them amounts to not only religious discrimination in violation of
California Government Code § 12940 ef seq., but also a wrongful termination in violation of

California's "public policy" against religious discrimination, as defined herein.

Damages
27. At the time of their discharges, PLAINTIFFS were earning substantial

wages with bonuses annually, health insurance and other benefits, and could have been eligible,
had they been retained, for annual pay raises and enhancements to their other benefits of
employment. As a direct result of their discriminatory discharge in violation of the FEHA,
PLAINTIFFS have suffered actual, incidental and consequential damages (past and future),
which include, but are not limited to, lost wages, lost employment benefits, and lost bonus
compensation, which damages are believed to be in excess of $500,000 annually. The precise

amount of damages sustained by PLAINTIFFS has not yet been ascertained and is subject to

proof at trial.
/1
/1
/1
1
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Emotional Distress Damages

28.  Asanadditional direct result of their discharge in violation of public policy,
PLAINTIFFS have suffered significant personal, emotional and economic injuries (including,
but not limited to, loss of wages, loss of bonuses, loss of employment benefits and other forms
of employment compensation), emotional distress and/or physical health problems resulting from
emotional distress caused by and occurring after their termination, loss of self-esteem,
embarrassment, humiliation and mental anguish. The precise amount of damages sustained by

PLAINTIFES has not yet been ascertained and is subject to proof at trial.

Punitive Damages

29.  The discriminatory decisions and actions inflicted upon PLAINTIFFS by
DISKEEPER in violation of public policy were made in complete disregard of PLAINTIFES'
prior job performance and with the malicious intent to deprive them of their employment and
with malicious or reckless disregard of the personal and economic injury that would be caused
to PLAINTIFFS. In doing the things herein alleged, DISKEEPER was motivated by personal
animosity, spite and ill-will toward PLAINTIFFS in a desire to injure, vex, harass and annoy
them, and acted with the wrongful motive, intent and purpose of depriving PLAINTIFFS of the
rights, benefits, protections and entitlements of their employment at DISKEEPER and of the
security of their employment, knowing that it had no right to do so and fully intending the harm,
both financial and emotional, which it knew would result from the termination of their
employment. PLAINTIFFS are informed and believe, and on the basis of such information and
beliefallege, that the acts and conduct of the individuals who participated in such discrimination
were expressly authorized by corporate officers of DISKEEPER (including, but not limited to,
CHADWELL, Director of Corporate Affairs) prior to the occurrence of such unlawful conduct,
and were subsequently authorized and ratified by the entire Board of Directors of DISKEEPER
(including, but not limited to, JENSEN, Chairman of the Board) gffer such unlawful conduct
occurred. DEFENDANTS' conduct was malicious and oppressive and, by reason thereof,

PLAINTIFES are entitled to punitive damages in an amount according to proof at trial.
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

FOR WRONGFUL RETALIATION IN

VIOLATION OF THE FEHA

(Against Defendant DISKEEPER and DOES 1-50)

Incorporation By Reference

30.  PLAINTIFFS repeat, reallege and incorporate herein by reference each and every

allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-13 and 15-18, above, as if set forth herein in full.

California Public Policy Against Retaliation

31.  Itis the public policy of the State of California to prohibit and prevent retaliation
against employees who oppose or refuse to participate in activities that are violative of State or
Federal law. For example, Government Code Section 12940(h), which was in effect and
enforceable against DEFENDANTS at all times relevant to this action, provides that it is an
"unlawful employment practice":

"For any employer, . . . or person fo discharge, expel, or otherwise
discriminate against any person because the person has opposed
any practices forbidden under this part or because the person has
filed a complaint, testified, or assisted in any proceeding under this

part." [talics added.

Retaliation in Violation of FEHA
32. PLAINTIFFS, and each of them, engaged in protected activity by voicing their
complaints about (and opposition to) DISKEEPER's imposition of training and education about
the Scientology religion as a condition of their employment with the company. PLAINTIFFS'
terms, conditions and privileges of employment -- including, without limitation, their ability to
retain their jobs -- were expressly conditioned on their agreement and willingness to participate
in the company-sponsored religious teachings and proselytizing activities. Because plaintiff LE

SHAY refused to participate in said religious training or to subscribe to the Scientology religious
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beliefs, he was forced to resign. And when plaintiff GODELMAN voiced his strong objection
to the unjustifiable requirement of religious study imposed on LE SHAY by DISKEEPER, and
his outrage that DISKEEPER forced LE SHAY to resign instead of accommodating his request
to be excused from the company-required Scientology training, he was terminated. The conduct
of DISKEEPER as described herein was unlawful and in violation of the FEHA's anti-retaliation
provisions, among other laws and regulations. The retaliatory actions -taken against
PLAINTIFFS were 1n violation of the public policy of the State of California and Federal law
and resulted in damage and injury to PLAINTIFFS as alleged herein.

Exhaustion of Statutorv Remedies

33.  PLAINTIFES have filed a timely charge of discrimination with the
California Department of Fair Employment and Housing against DISKEEPER and have obtained
"right to sue” letters dated December 26, 2006 (as to GODELMAN) and December 28, 2006 (as
to LE SHAY). Thus, PLAINTIFES have satisfied and/or exhausted any and all preconditions

to bringing this action as required by California Government Code § 12940 et seq.

Damages
34. At the time of their discharges, PLAINTIFFS were earning substantial

wages with bonuses annually, health insurance and other benefits, and could have been eligible,
had they been retained, for annual pay raises and enhancements to their other benefits of
employment. As a direct result of their discriminatory discharge in violation of the FEHA,
PLAINTIFFES have suffered actual, incidental and consequential damages (past and future),
which include, but are not limited to, lost wages, lost employment benefits, and lost bonus
compensation, which damages are believed to be in excess of $500,000 annually. The precise
amount of damages sustained by PLAINTIFFS has not yet been ascertained and is subject to
proof at trial. In the alternative, PLAINTIFFS seek full back pay and lost employment benefits
through the date of trial, and reinstatement to their former positions accompanied by a mandatory

and/or prohibitory injunction prohibiting DISKEEPER from forcing or requiring any employee, as

22

THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES




Gundebnan ['leadings 3t Am Compinnd Fol

a condition of employment, to study, adopt and/or apply the so-called "Hubbard Management
Technology" and/or the related "Hubbard Study Technology” (both of which PLAINTIFFS intend

to prove at trial are "cover" names for the fundamental teachings of the Scientology religion) in the

workplace.
Emotional Distress Damages
35.  As an additional direct result of the retaliation inflicted upon them in
violation of the FEHA, PLAINTIFFS have suffered significant personal, emotional and

economic injuries (including, but not limited to, loss of wages, loss of bonuses, loss of
employment benefits and other forms of employment compensation), emotional distress and/or
physical health problems resulting from emotional distress caused by and occurring after their
termination, loss of self-esteem, embarrassment, humiliation and mental anguish. The precise

amount of damages sustained by PLAINTIFES has not yet been ascertained and is subject to

proof at trial.

Attornevs' Fees and Costs

36.  Pursuant to Government Code Section 12965, PLAINTIFFS are entitled to

recover their reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in addition to all other damages permitted.

Punitive Damages

37.  The retaliatory decisions and actions inflicted upon PLAINTIFFS by
DEFENDANTS were in violation of the FEHA were made in complete disregard of
PLAINTIFFS' prior job performance and with the malicious intent to deprive them of their
employment and with malicious or reckless disregard of the personal and economic injury that
would be caused to PLAINTIFFS. In doing the things herein alleged, DEFENDANTS were
motivated by personal animosity, spite and ill-will toward PLAINTIFFS in a desire to injure,
vex, harass and annoy them, and acted with the wrongful motive, intent and purpose of depriving

PLAINTIFFS of the rights, benefits, protections and entitlements of their employment at
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DISKEEPER and of the security of their employment, knowing that it had no right to do so and
fully intending the harm, both financial and emotional, which it knew would result from the
termination of their employment. PLAINTIFFS are informed and believe, and on the basis of
such information and belief allege, that the acts and conduct of the individuals who participated
in such discrimination were expressly authorized by corporate officers of DISKEEPER
(including, but not limited to, CHADWELL, Director of Corporate Affairs) prior to the
occurrence of such unlawful conduct, and were subsequently authorized and ratified by the entire
Board of Directors of DISKEEPER (including, but not limited to, JENSEN, Chairman of the
Board) after such unlawful conduct occurred. DEFENDANTS' conduct was malicious and

oppressive and, by reason thereof, PLAINTIFES are entitled to punitive damages according to

proof at trial.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

FOR WRONGFUL RETALIATION IN
VIOLATION OF LABOR CODE § 1102.5
(Against Defendants DISKEEPER and DOES 1-50)

Incorporation By Reference

38.  PLAINTIFES repeat, reallege and incorporate by reference each and every

allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-13, above, as if set forth herein in full.

California Public Policy Against Retaliation

39.  Ttis the public policy of the State of California to prohibit and prevent retaliation
against employees who oppose or refuse to participate in activities that are violative of State or
Federal law. For example, Labor Code Section 1102.5(¢), which was in effect and enforceable
against DEFENDANTS at all times relevant to this action, provides:
iy
/1
/1
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"An employer may not retaliate against an employee for refusing to

participate in an activity that would result in a violation of state or

federal statute, or a violation or noncompliance with a state or

tederal rule or regulation." Italics added.
The California Supreme Court has acknowledged that Section 1102.5 represents the kind of
"public policy" upon which a public policy tort claim may be premised. See Green v. Ralee
Engineering (1998) 19 Cal.4th 66, 77 ("This provision reflects the broad public policy interest

in encouraging workplace whistle blowers to report unlawful acts without fearing retaliation.").

Retaliation in Violation of FEHA

40.  PLAINTIFFS, and each of them, engaged in protected activity by voicing their
complaints about (and opposition to) DISKEEPER's imposition of training and education about
the Scientology religion as a condition of their employment with the company. Both
GODELMAN and LE SHAY terms, conditions and privileges of employment -- including,
without limitation, their ability to retain their jobs -- were expressly conditioned on their
agreement and willingness to participate in the company-sponsored religious teachings and
proselytizing activities. Because PLAINTIFFS "refuse[d] to participate” in said religious
training or to subscribe to the Scientology religious beliefs -- conduct which 1s forbidden to be
imposed on employees under the FEHA and under Federal law -- they were either terminated or
forced to resign. The conduct of DISKEEPER as described in this Complaint was unlawful and
in violation of the FEHA's anti-retaliation provisions, among other laws and regulations. The
retaliatory actions taken against them were in violation of the public policy of the State of

California and Federal law and resulted in damage and injury to PLAINTIFES as alleged herein.

Damages
41. At the time of their discharges, PLAINTIFFS were carning substantial
wages with bonuses annually, health insurance and other benefits, and could have been eligible,

had they been retained, for annual pay raises and enhancements to their other benefits of
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